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INTRODUCTION


Whit did ye bigg, granda? The sillert mansions o Rubislaw and Mannofield; the twistit crunny and orra stink o Crooked Lane, the brookit tenements o Black’s Buildings, the Denburn, the Gallowgate, East North Street and West North Street …. The offices and shops and banks o the touns steery hert, its mile-lang monument to the grey skinkle and mica een o the quarry hole, a pavit river that took the jossle and stour o fowk and traffic aa bent on their ain ploys … Granite for Edward the Seventh’s statue, the fat clort, wi doos’ shite on his brou … Granite for Union brig wi its metal lions black and kenspeckle … Or were you in Canada when the Marischal gaed up, oor Kremlin to college lear. And made aa the weather-cocks jealous? The masons’ hemmers dung oot reels and strathspeys on the keys o granite squares and bumbazed steen spieled fae the foonds. Its tormentit diamante bleezed grey in the wink o its million een; and abeen aa, wee gowd-yella pennants were stuck like a stray notion at the hinner-end, never to flame in ony wind that blew … A year or twa back the quarry stoppit for good. Nae mair the hubber and rattle-stanes o the muckle crusher; nae mair the dirlin o the dreels, nae mair the grey smoor o stew; nae mair the blondin’s pulley-wheels breel on their iled road ower yon howkit hole.


Alistair Mackie ‘My Grandfather’s Nieve’1


Apologies to those who don’t understand the north-east version of the Scots language, commonly called Doric, but this piece of prose graphically captures the granite industry and the granite city of Aberdeen that was created from that industry. Alistair Mackie, teacher and makar (poet), was well qualified to write about it is as his father Frank, his grandfather Alexander (Sandy), and other members of his family all worked in the granite quarries. He describes the mile-long monument to granite (Union Street in Aberdeen), granite that came out of the gleaming mica opening of the quarry hole; the masons’ hammers beating out reels and strathspeys on the stone; some of the celebrated creations from those hammers – Union Bridge, Edward VII’s statue at the corner of Union street and Union Terrace; and above all Marischal College; finally the end of the quarry with an end to its dust (stew), and noise from the drills, the stone crusher, and the blondin’s pulley-wheels.


Granite, the hardest of all building stones, had been used for buildings in the north-east long before the opening of the quarries of Rubislaw, Kemnay and Dancing Cairns from where the granite came for the silver mansions and king’s statues. One such, for example, is Craigievar Castle which rises up from Craigievar Hill, and looks down on the valley of the Leochel Burn. The castle dates from the 1580s to 1620s and was built from rough pink granite, field gatherings of the local stone (what The Architect magazine in 1872 called outlier or surface stones), relatively unworked. The lintels and jambs of the doors and windows, as well as the stairs, have been treated with more care, doubtless with better quality stone. To the east of the castle, across the Leochel Burn there is a range of hills, running roughly north–south. The central hill is marked Red Hill on Ordnance Survey maps, and that is the name locals use for the whole range. At the north-east end of this line of hills is the Corrennie Quarry, source of salmon pink granite since the second half of the nineteenth century. The stone for building Craigievar came from the surrounding area, including the Red Hill, with the dressed work possibly coming from the area around Corrennie. However, there would not have a been a quarry in the modern sense at the time the castle was built, the stone for dressing would have been taken from outcrops that would later become the quarry.


Craigievar, almost certainly the work of one of the Bel family of masons from Midmar, was one of the last of the great north-east tower houses, the final flowering of a long tradition. All over the north-east, tower houses were built from the local stone, sometimes granite and sometimes sandstone, taken from as near as possible to the site of the building because transporting it would have been too difficult at a time when there were few roads and few wheeled vehicles. The great tower at Drum, which the most recent archaeological work now assigns to the early fourteenth century, is perhaps the earliest surviving castle built from granite field gatherings, reputedly from the Cowie Hill above the castle, the quarry site there was apparently still visible in Knight’s day in the early 1830s.2 Even before Drum was built, local granite was used in the building of the late twelfth- or early thirteenth-century Augustinian Priory at Monymusk, which later became the parish church. Although much altered and restored, Romanesque details can still be seen at Monymusk and most authorities would accept that it is the earliest surviving granite building in the north-east. Pink granite was used with sandstone dressings, sandstone being much easier to work than granite. The parish minister in 1895 recorded, ‘The granite used in the building is not the same as the common blocks in the fields or in recently-opened quarries.’ The tradition is that it was taken from Tombeg Farm, and that the stones were passed from hand to hand down the hill, which seems unlikely.3 Historian W.Douglas Simpson had the granite geologically examined and he concluded that the lower courses were similar in colour and grain to pink granite quarried in the Cunningar Wood near Cluny Castle, a mile and a half south of the church. Above that level he suggested that the walls were of porphyritic granite, fine-grained and pale pink with large crystals of feldspar and smoky quartz. This rock he identified with the later quarry on Pitfichie Hill. The Tombeg quarry itself produced a grey-yellow granite, not pink.4


In Old Aberdeen parts of the nave of St Machar Cathedral, particularly the west front, including the towers, are also of granite, making it the only granite cathedral in the country. Why this part of the cathedral was built of granite in the first half of the fifteenth century is not clear, perhaps the supply of red sandstone, used earlier in the cathedral, was interrupted for some reason. The towers with their machicolated parapets originally had cap-houses instead of the freestone spires that were added 100 years later. It would therefore have looked even more castle-like than it does today. Perhaps the mason who built it was more used to working on castles and towers, or maybe there were practical reasons for this military look. Lairds and clan chiefs were in the habit of bringing their feuds and war-like practices to the environs of the cathedral, hence the defensive nature of the Chanonry with its ports. In a similar way there were stout defensible churches built in various parts of France during the Hundred Years War. Whoever the mason was his skill in working granite created, for example, a moulded doorway that architect William Kelly compared with one in sandstone at Elgin Cathedral.


In Aberdeen itself the earliest medieval granite structure that survives is the much altered St Mary’s Chapel at the east end of St Nicholas Kirk, probably dating from the 1440s. The chapel helped support the extension of the Mither Kirk where the ground fell away to the Putachie Burn. The chapel also includes some granite carving, inevitably cruder than those from sandstone.


A tradition recorded by the parish minister at Monymusk was that the mason who built the church there ‘looked from the Tombeg hill on the finished tower and exclaimed that if he had received a few merks more he would have been properly paid.’5 A similar story is told of Corse Castle near Craigievar where, after he had finished, the mason washed his hands in the burn and said ‘gin I’d had anither tippence I’d hae been weel aff.’ Medieval masons were immensely skilled men, they were architects as well as masons and these stories suggest that they felt that they didn’t receive true remuneration for their work.


Much earlier than all these medieval buildings, granite blocks and stones were used by our pre-historic ancestors to build their monuments and homes– stone circles, burial cairns, round houses etc. In the centre of Aberdeen the Langstane is an example of this, but they can be found throughout the north-east. Granite does so much to define our landscape. Our finest novelist, Lewis Grassic Gibbon, wrote that ‘nothing endures but the land’ and granite is the most enduring of the materials found in our land.


This book is the story of how the descendants of these Neolithic farmers and medieval masons blasted the granite from the depths of the earth creating huge holes that can be found all over the north-east; how they worked that granite at the quarries and in the granite yards and turned this hardest of materials into buildings and objects of beauty, shaping and polishing the material; it is the story of the tools and technology they used to bring the material to the surface, to work the granite and create an industry; and it is also the story of how Aberdeen, in particular, became the Granite City, both in terms of the built environment of the city but also in the minds of its population and of people beyond the city.
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St Machar Cathedral.







1


THE BEGINNINGS OF AN INDUSTRY


The early burgh of Aberdeen was surrounded to the north, south and west by abundant outcrops of granite, but the first stone house built in the burgh was said to have been for Provost Menzies of Findon in 1530, his previous timber house having burnt down the year before. It stood at the south-west corner of the Castlegate and such was the novelty of a stone house that a local is recorded defiantly stating that he ‘cared not for the provost or his stane hoos’. The house passed to the Provost’s son, Thomas Menzies of Pitfodels and became known as Pitfodel’s Lodgings. A few years later another important figure in the north-east, the Earl Marischal, built himself a town house alongside it. Both houses survived until the late eighteenth century. These houses, as with the castles and tower houses, would have been built of rough gathered stone, but they also had dressed work around the windows and doors in sandstone, as can be seen in the surviving houses of Provosts Skene and Ross in the Guestrow and the Shiprow respectively. With field-gathered granite you get walls that have a variety of colours and grains in the stones, the stones themselves being rough and difficult to fashion as a result of being exposed to the action of the elements, including the movement of ice, over the millennia. This is one of the reasons why many early granite buildings were harled, for aesthetic reasons. Nineteenth-century writers used the word rude (i.e. crude) to describe this stonework and any early attempts to carve granite.


The Burgh records for 2 June 1539 record that ‘the sayd day, the prowest and balzes consentis and ordains, wytht the awse of the hayll towne, that thair be ane cassay maker feyit and conducit for daly wagis, to mak, reforme, and mind all streyttis and calsayis of the sayd burght.’12 This cassay maker was a forerunner of the settmakers who would provide road and pavement material not just for Aberdeen but also for London and other cities in the kingdom. The sett trade with London provided one of the most important stimuli for the infant granite industry.


The first record we have of an attempt to actually quarry granite comes in 1603 when the Council Registers records that a John Meason (mason) be ‘permitted to open a quarry within the freedom lands, in order to supply the inhabitants with stones for doors, windows and rigging, and no person to be at liberty to open any other quarry for that purpose for five years’.3 It is usually stated that this quarry was at the Hill of Rubislaw, but no location is given in the council records and Cairncry, Rosehill and Loanhead are also possibilities. Despite his monopoly, Meason’s quarry does not seem to have been successful, and it wasn’t until the early eighteenth century that granite quarrying can really be said to have begun in earnest in the burgh.


By the early eighteenth century, the town was far from being the ‘Granite City’, and the Council tried to encourage and then insist on building in stone (though not necessarily granite). In June 1731 they reported on the:




Dangerous consequences re-building their house of timber after they become ruinous and likewise building their chimney with plaster and lath and covering houses with heath or thatch or divot. Ordain that no individual or proprietor of tenements do presume to build the forepart of their houses (such as forestairs) with any sort of timber, but only with stone or brick and that they do not build any of their chimneys of plaister or lath, commonly called staik and ryce or cove, the roofs of their houses with heath, thatch or divot but altenerly with slate or tyle. Or their building will be pulled down and each transgression fined 50 pounds Scots.4





This encouragement met with only limited success and a further Act of 1741 admitted that the ‘previous Act of 1731 has not had the desired effect’. The Council acted quickly because this Act of 17 August 1741 came about after ‘the many dreadful and fatal instances that have happened within the burgh by fire, more particularly the late dismal that happened 4th August when several houses in the west side of the Broadgate were brunt down.’5 Not only was it difficult to extinguish a fire in timber buildings but the extension of wooden forestairs in front of properties caused lanes such as the Guestrow and the Narrow Wynd to become too narrow for adequate access. Building in stone, the Council further argued, would also ‘add to the beauty and policy of the Town.’6 The act compelling houses to be built of stone extended as far as the Bow Brig to the south, all the houses on the north side of the Denburn from the Bow Brig to the Infirmary, up to Mounthooly and on the east to the Justice and Fittie Ports. This time the Council had more success, particularly in the new streets that began to be built from the 1760s onwards. By 1782 Francis Douglas would report that as far as the Town House and the Mason Lodge were concerned:




The fronts of the wings are uniform, and built of a fine whitish granite, squared and well-smoothed. The Exchange [or the Plainstones as it was more commonly known] is a pavement of granite, squared and well-smoothed, raised two steps above the street, and terminated on the east by the cross. Though in the by-streets there are some brick buildings, the houses in general are built of granite, cut square, and smoothed, some of them better than others.7





How had this transformation come about?


James Elmslie of Loanhead (1683–1764): The Man Who Began it All


The Council Register records on 7 May 1722 that ‘William Menzies of Pitfodels granted some years ago to the Town of Aberdeen to make a quarry on the Hill of Pitfodels for repairing the Bridge of Dee’. This was for granite as part of the repairs to the bridge carried out in the early 1720s, though most of the work was done in freestone and there is no record of significant amounts of granite coming from the Pitfodels Quarry. It is really James Elmslie, later described as a merchant and ardent Jacobite in both the 1715 and 1745 rebellions, who can really be considered the man who started the granite industry in the north-east.


Elmslie is buried in St Machar churchyard, the earlier stone of his first wife, Barbara King, having been placed on top of his following his death. She died in 1725 and on her stone he is described as stonecutter in Loanhead of Aberdeen, just beside the then Skene Road. The likelihood is that he carved the lettering on her stone himself. It wasn’t until 1730 that he began quarrying near Loanhead. In present day terms the quarry ran from the top of Craigie Loanings (where it joins Rosemount Place). From there the quarry ran in a south-westerly direction through the east end of Hamilton Place and Craigie Park, and down to the Gilcomston Dam. The year after Elmslie opened his quarry stone from the quarry was used to begin building Robert Gordon’s Hospital (or school), though the school itself wasn’t opened until much later. The Hospital records for 1731 show the following account: ‘Item payed to James Elmsly Quarrier for winning 1760 stones at one hundred pounds Scots the eleven hundred … £160.’ Unlike later quarries, Elmslie’s does not seem to have delivered or dressed the stone, as there are payments to others for horses and carts and to John Thain and Andrew Edward for dressing these stones. The records also name the masons for the actual building works as John Aikenhead, William Sangster, and Alexander Riach who were paid £2,481 4s 10d for their efforts.8


Robert Gordon’s Hospital would be followed in later decades by several other important buildings in the town built from Loanhead stone – notably the first Royal Infirmary on the Woolmanhill site, the Grammar School on Schoolhill and the Waterhouse on Broad Street. These three are no longer in existence, although a gable and bellcote from the Grammar School survive within the current school. It has also been suggested that Gilcomston Chapel of Ease was built from Loanhead granite and, given its location not far from the quarry, this may well have been the case. It is difficult to tell today because it was substantially rebuilt in the nineteenth century. Diack9 states that it was in fact built for the quarry workers at Loanhead and this suggestion was also picked up by Fenton Wyness.10 However, I think it more likely that it was built for the large weavers’ colony around the Gilcomston area. Robert Gordon’s itself, then, was probably the earliest building in the Granite City to be built from dressed and quarried granite and thankfully it survives today.
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The tombstones of James Elmslie and his wife in St Machar’s Kirkyard.
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Taylor’s map of 1773 shows Loanhead itself just where Rosemount Place branches right to become Mid Stocket Road and left Beechgrove Terrace. The quarries run south east from there down to the Gilcomston Dam.





The Bow Brig carried the main road into the town from the south over the Denburn, and there had been several bridges prior to the eighteenth century. A replacement Bow Brig was agreed by the Town Council at their meeting of 9 May 1747, to be funded by money from the Bridge of Dee fund. It was built by John Jeans, mason, from dressed granite, with each parapet adorned by a tapering obelisk also of dressed granite. According to James Rettie it was ‘said by some one to be the first of the kind used’.11 I presume that Rettie means the first bridge to be built of dressed granite and the likelihood is that it was Loanhead granite.


Several writers on granite (including Diack, Kelly, Donnelly, McLaren and others) have claimed the Town House in Old Aberdeen as being built in 1721 and therefore possibly the oldest ashlar granite building in Aberdeen. However, the Town House was actually built in 1788. The confusion arose because the notable local architect William Kelly gave a lecture to granite workers in 1898 during which he gave the date of Old Aberdeen Town House as 1721. William Diack was at that lecture and used the date in his later writings. Other writers on granite took the date from Diack. However, Kelly was mistaken. The Town House includes an armorial panel dated 1721 taken from the previous town house, hence the confusion. When Aberdeen University published a series of Kelly’s essays in his honour in 1949 the error was corrected, but this correction wasn’t picked up by later writers.


Loanhead granite was also used as the town began its first phase of planned street layout with Littlejohn Street, Queen Street and adjacent Longacre, the streets of the Lochlands, and above all Marischal Street, which is the best place to see Loanhead granite today, though there may be Loanhead granite in one or two buildings in Belmont Street and also a few in Upperkirkgate. Partly because of growing traffic, and partly to stimulate growth, the city needed easier and more direct access to the harbour, rather than the steep and winding Shiprow. Marischal Street, planned from the early 1760s, was to be more direct and with a more gradual incline, and it would include one of Scotland’s first flyovers in Bannerman’s Bridge. It was probably the first street in Aberdeen to be paved with granite blocks. The first phase of Marischal Street, north of Bannerman’s Bridge, dates from 1767–89. Most of the buildings here are of Loanhead granite, a light beige colour and softer, more open in texture than Rubislaw. In fact there is a building on the west side of Marischal Street where some of the granite has actually crumbled. As Rubislaw Quarry began to be developed it replaced Loanhead in the buildings in Marischal Street built from the 1790s onwards, up to the very early years of the nineteenth century. You can trace this transformation simply by walking down Marischal Street where the changeover to the superior Rubislaw stone is clearly visible. Nos 1–3 Marischal Street at the top, formerly the Royal Oak and now the Old Blackfriars, was actually built of Loanhead granite in 1763, just before the street itself. It was designed to stand on the planned new street, as well as on Castle Street itself. Across on the north side of the Castlegate, No.17 (Portals Bar) is even earlier, dating from 1760 and also built of granite from Loanhead.


Loanhead survived as a quarry into the early years of the nineteenth century but by then its best days had long passed. Francis Douglas in his description of Aberdeen in 1782 describes Loanhead thus: ‘This place was formerly wholly possessed by labourers who wrought in the adjacent quarries, or was the occasional residence of beggars, who were not permitted to settle in the town. There are now many decent houses in it, and the fields around are in high culture.’12 This perhaps suggests that Loanhead was already in decline as other quarries came into production. George Keith, writing of the Fountainhall Estate in 1811, does say that it had a valuable stone quarry and this is presumably one of the Loanhead quarries.13 An advertisement from 1805 for the remainder of the lease of 6 acres of improved ground at Loanhead estate optimistically describes inexhaustible stone quarries, near to the town with all the stone selling rapidly. The advert states that ‘the ground may be left in quarry pits at the end of the lease; and as many quarries opened as may be thought proper.’14 I think it highly likely that at the end of this lease period the quarry would have been all but finished. In the late nineteenth century houses were eventually built in the area of the quarry, one unfortunate legacy of the quarry would appear in the form of subsidence. For example, the building numbered 7, 9 and 11 Hamilton Place suffered from subsidence and in the late 1980s it was taken down with each stone numbered. 360 tons of rubble were removed from the site and thirty-five piles sunk round the footprint of the building. At the front of the building they went down 2m, at the back 6m, before they hit bedrock. The whole process took three years. Further west along the street a bay window was taken out and the foundations filled with concrete. Similarly Hamilton Lodge at the east end of the street had part of the west wall of the rear wing had to be taken down and rebuilt. Someone who worked there when it was a doctor’s surgery told me of feeling nauseous in certain rooms and of pencils rolling across the floor. Properties in nearby Beechgrove Terrace have also suffered subsidence in the past.


Rubislaw: the Early Years


As we have seen there may have been a quarry at Rubislaw in the seventeenth century. However, it wasn’t until the eighteenth century that quarrying really got going on the Hill of Rubislaw, and it was to be an inauspicious start. In the 1740s the Council hoped that granite from Rubislaw could be used to rebuild the old church i.e. the West Kirk of St Nicholas. Some years before this they had bought the potential quarry from George Skene of Rubislaw for £160 Scots. Evidently some stone was dug out from Rubislaw, because in January 1741 the Register records that:




The Council agrees that the masons desist from digging more in Rubislaw Quarry until they hew the stone already quarried by hewing a few of each kind of the work – esler [ashlar], pillars, cornices, ribbets, arches, and that they hew the esler both after the best manner they can be dressed and another sort of rough esler, and after they are hewen the Council with other knowing persons to vest the said quarry and the stones so hewen. And the masons then to fix a price on the foot of each kind of hewen work, and contract to furnish all stones shall be necessary for the old church at the price agreed upon.15





Presumably the Council were not happy with this first group of masons because in June:




The said day the Council agreed that David Barrie, mason in Montrose, with John Jeans and other masons shall instantly take down the westernmost pillar both south and north of the old church, in order to know the quality of the pillars and arches, and also take down part of the west gavel [gable]. Likeways to employ labourers for redding the face of the westernmost part of the quarrie of Robslaw so that the above masons may work some days therein to know how the same will work.16





The venture was not a success. The West Kirk was eventually rebuilt, to plans by James Gibbs, perhaps the greatest architect Aberdeen has produced, but apart from a base course in granite, it was built from sandstone.


Rubislaw Quarry seems to have produced very little thereafter and then the Council and its ‘knowing persons’ made a colossal blunder. In June 1788 it was recorded that:




The said day Baillie Adam and the Treasurer reported that in consequence of the Council’s remitt to them the 10th May last they had inspected the piece of ground in the Den of Rubislaw bought for a quarry from the present Mr Skene’s grandfather, and that it appeared to them that the stones found in it are of a very bad quality and unfit for any public buildings, of which they produced a specimen. That from the appearance of the ground itself they could not see any useful purpose to the community to which it could be turned. And as the public had never reaped any advantage from it since the purchase they were of the opinion that the Council should redispose of it to the present Mr Skene at the price paid for it by the Town which they found to have been one hundred and sixty pounds Scots.





At the Council’s next meeting the sale was accepted.17


Presumably Baillie Adam and the Treasurer had not examined the rock beneath the tirr or the bar, and one wonders if they lived long enough to realise their error because within a few years buildings in the lower half of Marischal Street would be built from Rubislaw granite, stone of a quality far surpassing that of Loanhead. Rubislaw granite would go on to be used in the city that developed from the town once Union Street had been built and the Denburn crossed. Just three years after buying the quarry back James Skene and his agents were advertising in the Aberdeen Journal in May 1791:




That upon Friday 27th inst. between the hours of five and six in the afternoon within the house of Peter Wilkie, vintner, there will be set in tack by public roup for the space of seven years – the whole stone quarries upon the estate of Rubislaw in one lot – the tenant will have immediate access to the quarries with the benefit of a new road to be made out by the proprietor, leading towards Hirpletillum.18





The Trade with London


Writing in 1811 George Skene Keith wrote that granite had brought gold to Aberdeen.19 What he went on to write about was the real stimulus for quarried granite in the eighteenth century, which came not from the Granite City but from London. In 1791 the parish minister for Nigg, including Torry, just across the River Dee from Aberdeen, reported that:




In 1766, the granite quarries by the sea and in the hills were opened for making causeway stones to pave some streets in London. This granite is of a remarkably close texture, and of great hardness. To this new work some 600 men were collected from different places. It led many families to settle for a time in the parish, and employed some horses in drawing the stones, where water conveyance could not be obtained. Decreasing rapidly from 1772, it now engages only 17 inhabitants with a few strangers.





He goes on to say that trade continued but with more shaped stones with 3,000 tons being exported annually to London, Maidstone, Ramsgate and other places.20


The trade in cassies or setts for London began around 1760. According to Dr Knight ‘it had to undergo a severe ordeal, and many reports were spread against it.’ He goes on to say that it wasn’t until 1766 that the Paving Commissioners at Guildhall gave a formal preference for Aberdeen granite over blue whin and entered into large contracts for its supply.21 Initially it was simply rounded stones from the shore, such as had been used in Aberdeen for centuries, and also stones cleared off the land in this era of agricultural improvement. Very soon this source either ran out or was not supplying sufficient quantities to meet the demand and quarries were opened in Torry and elsewhere. Among those involved in the trade was John Adam, oldest son of William, and brother to Robert, James and William. John was also an architect who took over the family business on the death of his father in 1748. Gradually his more talented brothers joined him and John increasingly looked after the business side of the enterprise. This included several quarries in Scotland. In Aberdeen on 26 March 1766, ‘The Council having heard a memorial laid before them from Mr John Adam architect in Edinburgh craving a tack of the stones in the Bay of Nigg. They recommend to the magistrates to commune with Mr Adam who is presently in town and to report.’


The following day the Council considered the memorial from Adam which said that:




Your memorialist has in view to make use of such stones as are in your Honours’ property from the Timberhead on the southside of the river to the Cove, he will take a lease for a term of twenty one years, upon an adequate rent with a break in his option at the end of the first year by way of a trial, in case it should not answer, and at the end of every third year thereafter.





Adam got his lease for those quarries lying ‘between the Town’s Quarry in the Grey Hope and the Cove’. He was to pay a rent of ten pounds sterling per annum with the Town:




To retain their present quarry at Grayhope and what lyes to the north thereof for the purposes of building in or about the Town, and not to let the same to any person whatever who shall prove a rival to the said Mr Adam in the business he intends to carry on.





The Town also reserved for themselves ‘any of the loose stones lying on the shore or to any of the pebbles that are usually carried to London’.22


The Town, then, was already operating a quarry at Greyhope and carrying on a trade with London before Adam came along. Despite what they said initially they did allow Adam a year’s trial to quarry stones at Greyhope as well, after which he was to desist. Adam was subsequently allowed to expand the area in which he quarried. The Lands of Torry in which he was quarrying had been granted to the town by a mortification of the Menzies of Pitfodels family who owned the lands. In previous centuries the Menzies family had been very powerful in the affairs of the burgh, providing numerous provosts, particularly in the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries. Although their influence waned after the Reformation because they remained Catholics, they were still major landowners, the last Menzies laird, John, gifting his property at Blairs to the Catholic Church in 1827. Despite the mortification of the Torry lands in favour of the burgh, the Menzies family continued to have some say in how they were managed. In August 1770 David Menzies complained to the Council about the way in which John Adam was managing the quarries. His complaints included Adam paying far too low a rent; that he had extended his quarrying without permission; that he should be obliged to ‘leave the Quarries he has brock up into the country to throw all the rubbige into the hols, which will make them less dangerous than they are at present’; that Adam’s workers should not be allowed to dig up pasture land for turfs or sods (presumably for roofing their houses); and that his option, allowed in the original tack, to re-assess the lease every year be withdrawn otherwise Adam would ‘work as much in one year as he coud carry of in three.’ Clearly Menzies was not happy at the way the quarries were managed and this was a common complaint by landowners in the early days of quarrying. Adam’s lease was changed in 1771, with some of Menzies’s recommendations being included. The Town did retain the right to quarry stone for use in the town and Adam was obliged to make and pay for a carriage road leading to the shipping places at Torry, as well as tidy the area once he had finished quarrying.23


Quarrying at the End of the Eighteenth Century


By the latter years of the eighteenth century, Aberdeen was ringed with quarries to the west, across the River Dee to the south, and especially on the hills to the north and north west. Evidence of the site of many of these quarries has to a great extent been obliterated as the town grew in size and housing was built over or around former quarries. London was still the main destination for quarried stone and evidence of the growth in quarrying since Elmslie opened Loanhead earlier in the century comes from the Statistical Account. Although usually written by the parish minister, for Aberdeen and Old Machar the account was taken from ‘the communications of several gentlemen of that city’. Old Machar Parish included much of the area just outside the town itself, and the account for the parish, written in 1796-97, reports that:




Granite abounds in the parish. There are excellent quarries at Rubislaw, Loanhead, Pitmuxton and other places, beside plenty of outlayers in the Hill of Grandhome. About 100 men are constantly employed in working them. Many of these stones are used for building in Aberdeen and its neighbourhood, but by far the greater part are sent to London. Nor is this trade likely to fail; for not withstanding the uncommon durability and hardness of these stones, such is the prodigious intercourse of carriages in that immense metropolis, that a street paved with them will in a few years be so broken as to require great quantities of new pavement. Some houses in and about London have also been built of Aberdeen granite.





The author estimated that at that point around 12,000 tons were being sent to London annually, presumably just from the quarries in the parish.24


Also in the Statistical Account the minister for Dyce recorded that about twenty-four years before he was writing, c.1766, a quarry had been opened there for dressing stones for paving the streets of London, and that it was still continuing. At Newhills, written in 1792, quarrying and preparing stones for the London market was listed as the principal trade of the parish. Here there were four quarries on the Auchmull Estate exporting 45,000 sq.ft of litter stones (for building), and some years more than 15,000 tons of cassies, to London. There was a fifth quarry on another estate in the parish also supplying London. The minister of Newhills described the granite as being of a ‘very good kind, exceedingly durable, capable of a fine polish’. He estimated that around fifty men were employed in the trade, which also benefited local farmers who carted the stones. As with later workers, the men were paid piecemeal, though in different ways as the masons who dressed the litter stones were paid twopence the square foot, while those who made the cassies (later called settmakers) were paid 1s 6d per ton.25


The four quarries on the Auchmull Estate were probably those that later made up the famous Dancing Cairns Quarry, with Auchmull House no doubt being built from stone from the quarry. In a visit to the quarry in 1906 the Aberdeen Association of Civil Engineers were told by the manager, William B. Wight of A. & F. Manuelle, that it was probably the oldest quarry in the area, being shown on a chart dated 1415! 26 This may possibly refer to a very old estate map and, if true, it would be remarkable. Just to the west of the other quarries there was also the Froghole Quarry. In these early days of quarrying the quarry was not one large hole as it would become later. Rather there was a series of smaller surface quarries, often worked by different quarriers, and we will see this again when we look at the development of Rubislaw in the nineteenth century. In a vague way Patrick Morgan states that sometime towards the end of the eighteenth century Dancing Cairns Quarries were opened by Messrs Snell, Rennie and May. May was Alexander May who he says had quarried at Greyhope before moving to Auchmull. Rennie may be John Rennie, the engineer and Snell may have been related to Alexander Snell who operated a quarry there in the 1830s.27 The other quarry in Newhills at this time was probably the nearby Sclattie Quarry between Bankfoot and Bucksburn.


Immediately to the north of the town a further series of quarries were opened on the Middlefield Estate and on the lands of Sir William Johnston, James Forbes of Seaton and Sir Archibald Grant of Monymusk. These would include the Cairncry Quarries, Rosehill Quarries and Hilton Quarries, which have left their mark in the place names in the Northfield area of the city with Quarryhill School, Granitehill Road etc.


James Forbes of Seaton and his son-in-law, Lord James Hay, owned a number of quarries including Dancing Cairns and Sclattie, the latter probably purchased from Dr John Chalmers, Principal of King’s College, in 1803. In their archives some letters survive which give details of the use of granite from their quarries in London. In December 1794 the Scottish architect Robert Mylne, famous for designing Greyfriars Bridge, London, wrote to Forbes that he had ‘spoken to Mr Hamilton, pavior of Broad Street, Cheapside, London, and recommended your Aberdeen stone quarries. He is a large consumer and desires you will state in writing the situation of the quarries exactly, and whether they are now worked, and by whom, and of what sort of stone.’28 As we will see in the next chapter, Dancing Cairns granite was to be used at some prestigious sites in London.


Across the River Dee at Cove it is not entirely clear that one of the quarries operated by John Adam, as noted above, was actually at Cove. However, the parish minister writing the Statistical Account for Nigg in 1793 does state that quarrying began at Cove in 1766 which would tie in with Adam’s dates, quarrying being carried out at the coast and in the hills. The minister also states that between then and 1772 around 600 workers were attracted to the area to work in the quarries, an incredible figure if true. From 1772 he says that numbers have declined to just seventeen, mainly locals, when he was writing.29 The minister describes 12in x 6in setts, 9in deep, tapering by 2in to the base, being made at the quarries. One man would make a ton in two days, and 3,000 tons were exported annually to London, Maidstone and Ramsgate.


The Opening of Quarries in the Peterhead Area


In the era before the improvement of the transport infrastructure of the north-east the other area that could take advantage of the growing need for good quality granite in the late eighteenth century was around Peterhead. This was because here the quarries are relatively near the coast and the harbour of Peterhead. Here again the parish ministers reported on quarrying activities in their area. The Peterhead minister, writing in 1794, states that there are:




inexhaustible quarries of excellent granite of which all the houses in Peterhead are built, and great quantities exported to the London market, and for different parts of England; the granite admits of the finest polish, and lapidaries are frequently employed in forming it into various shapes for different pieces of furniture. From 600-800 tons of kerb and carriage-way stones are annually sent to London and other places.30





Peterhead is, of course, famous for its dark red granite. Nearby in Longside, the minister wrote in 1792-93 that two types of granite were produced in the parish – a dark blue one which had been used in Cairness House nearby in Lonmay parish; and a beautiful lighter coloured granite produced at Cairngall, ‘frequent specimens of which are to be seen in London and other parts of England.’31 Blue stone was also quarried on the estate of Cairness itself and this had also been used at Cairness House. The account books for the overseer of Cairness in 1796 record wages for estate workers working at the quarries in Cairness and Rora.32
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FACTORS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE INDUSTRY 1790–1850


Three key areas influenced the subsequent development of the granite industry from the 1790s onwards: firstly, improved transport in the shape of turnpike roads, the Aberdeenshire Canal and then the coming of the railways; secondly, the further growth in trade outside Aberdeen, particularly in London, with the use of north-east granite extending from paving stones to civil engineering and architectural use; thirdly, the building of Union Bridge and Union Street which eventually led to the creation of a New Town in Aberdeen west of the Denburn Valley, with streets and squares lined with granite buildings many of them built by Aberdeen’s two great granite architects, John Smith and Archibald Simpson.


Transport


The turnpike roads were instrumental in the growth in granite quarrying. The pre-turnpike roads had grown up by common usage in an age when there were few wheeled vehicles in Scotland. Despite attempts, especially by landowners, to improve the roads the lack of continued maintenance meant that where roads existed they were of poor quality. Moreover they tended to follow the high ground to avoid boggy areas. The gradients involved were a major obstacle to the movement of granite blocks. The worst example of this was the Tyrebagger where the original road went much higher up the hill than the subsequent turnpike.


The idea of the turnpike roads was that ‘gentlemen’ would subscribe to help fund them and recoup their investment through tolls. Many of the subscribers also hoped that the roads would help develop their estates thus making them more profitable – taking rural produce to markets and enabling improving material such as lime and fertilisers to be more easily transported inland. Following pressure from landowners the Turnpike Bill was introduced to Parliament in April 1795 and passed shortly thereafter. By far the largest subscriber to the Skene Road was James Skene of Rubislaw. He hoped that the proposed road would make it easier to transport granite from the quarries on his land and that the road would eventually link up with the new Union Street at its west end, once that street had been finished. Granite from Rubislaw might then be made more accessible for the buildings gradually being erected on the new street. As early as 1802 Skene and his factor, Charles Gordon, were drawing up plans to develop high class housing in what became Albyn Place, though it took a number of years before their plans really came to fruition. Skene used his position to ensure that the road did pass the Hill of Rubislaw, fighting off a counter proposal from Provost More who tried to get the new road to follow more closely the old road, and thereby pass near his own property of Raeden. The Inverurie Road would also pass near to a number of quarries including Dancing Cairns, Sclattie, and quarries near the Tyrebagger.


Traffic from granite quarries would inevitably be heavy on these early roads, some of which were not that well constructed. The Inverurie Road was opened in 1800, but by 1808 the heavy loads from Dancing Cairns Quarry were already taking their toll. A notice in the Aberdeen Journal announced that the Trustees had determined to exact the full tolls on the weight of stone carts using the road after the expiry of the present leases. Apparently by Act of Parliament every cart having wheel rims of less than six inches, drawn by two horses, was allowed to carry 1½ tons in weight in summer and 1 ton 7cwt in winter, including the weight of the cart. If it was drawn by one horse it was allowed 1 ton in summer and winter. Anything over this was charged extra for every cwt.


The Aberdeenshire Canal also helped granite to be transported to Aberdeen when it opened in 1805. Several of the quarries to the north of the town were within reach of the canal. It had the advantage that it could take the stone right into Aberdeen and near to the harbour where initially much of it was to be used. From there it could also be transported by ship outwith Aberdeen.


The advantages of improved transport links began to be used in the advertisements for sale or lease of quarries. For example, in June 1800 Cairncry Quarry was said to be a ‘small distance to canal and turnpike’ making it ‘an object of great value to any persons dealing in granite.’ 1 This was despite the fact that the canal was only begun in 1801 and not opened until 1805. Similarly advertised in March 1811 was ‘an excellent quarry at Overtown of Dyce belonging to Sir Alexander Bannerman. Situated within ¼ of a mile of the canal by which stones may be conveyed to the Harbour.’2 The influence of the canal on granite transportation was to be relatively short-lived because it was largely replaced by the coming of the railways.


The railways had a profound effect in allowing the opening up of quarries in the Don Valley. Kemnay was opened by John Fyfe due to the construction of the Alford Valley railway, with granite from the quarry being used to help build the railway as will be detailed in the next chapter. Tillyfourie, and later Corrennie, followed and they both used the railway and were useful for it. The railway up to Peterhead was also important for the industry in that area, with one line to Cruden being built as late as the 1890s.


In the later years of the nineteenth century traction engines were also used to transport granite, though perhaps more as an intermediate transport, taking it to the nearest railway station.


Export of Granite


The initial trade in granite between the north-east and London had been for road and paving material. From the late eighteenth century onwards this grew to include granite for civil engineering projects, granite for architectural work and finally monumental granite. This was the period when the quality of north-east granite became established in London. It is recorded than when the Duke of Wellington consulted an engineer on the relative merits of Scottish and Cornish granite he was told that ‘Cornish granite lasts for ever, Scotch a little longer.’ 3


William Diack, in a story that probably came from the Fyfe archive, tells how when John Rennie was about to build the bridge he had designed over the River Thames at Southwark (1813–19) he needed some massive blocks of granite, 15, 20 and 25 tons, larger than any that had been handled in Aberdeen before. The Aberdeen granite masters said it was impossible to transport such large blocks so Rennie went up to Peterhead. There he found a 25-ton block which was scabbed and dressed using the picks that were the mason’s main tool at the time. There being no carriage able to carry such a huge block Rennie was not to be beaten and he had a carriage specially made. Diack even records that the toll keeper was unsure as to the appropriate toll for such a load. Rennie then had to persuade a captain to carry it London, most of them being reluctant to allow such a block on to their ships for fear it would sink them. However, one adventurous soul did agree to take it and the stone was loaded with the whole of Peterhead turning out to see it leave. The block was successfully conveyed to London and placed in position to provide a foundation for the bridge piers.4


Various notable engineers came to Aberdeen towards the end of the eighteenth century. The first was John Smeaton who drew up a report on the harbour in 1770, recommending the building of the North Pier. Smeaton wrote a second report in 1788 and granite was extensively used in the work following these reports. The Aberdeen Journal that year carried an advertisement to masons and quarriers for 12,000 to 16,000ft of stones, from 3ft to 6ft in length, 14in to 18in in height, with the beds and joints dressed.5 John Rennie surveyed the harbour in 1797 and was also the designer and engineer for the Aberdeenshire Canal, opened in 1805. The most notable engineer of the time, Thomas Telford, also reported on the harbour in 1801, while carrying out a survey for the Treasury of the harbours of Northern Scotland. Telford also surveyed the harbour again in 1810. These engineers knew the qualities of granite and would use it in their many engineering projects as we have seen with Rennie in London. As early as 1795, Aberdeen granite was ordered by the Admiralty for building the docks at Portsmouth. In 1800 tenders were invited for supplying 60,000ft of granite for the West India Docks in London, the stones to be delivered to the Isle of Dogs.6 And in 1818 The Times announced that His Majesty’s Navy was receiving tenders for supplying His Majesty’s Yard at Sheerness with 685,000 cu.ft of Aberdeen granite.7


One of the early civil engineering works to be built in granite outside Aberdeen was the Bell Rock Lighthouse, designed by John Rennie but with Robert Stevenson as his assistant. The Caledonian Mercury reported in 1807 that a lighthouse was to be built on the Bell Rock by Mr Rennie. Aberdeen granite was to be used ‘as the most durable stone with which to construct the foundations and outside course of the building.’ The stones were to be landed at Arbroath and then transported to the rock.8 A subsequent advertisement appeared in the Aberdeen Journal for granite blocks for building the lighthouse to be delivered at the iron crane at the pier in Aberdeen. The agent for the granite was Alexander Gildawie, road and bridge building mason. Granite from Rubislaw, Tyrebagger and Cairngall was used in the lighthouse.9


The early use of Aberdeen granite in England went beyond London. For example the Ipswich Journal reported in 1810 that Aberdeen granite was to be used in the kerbs in Great Yarmouth and the Caledonian Mercury in 1818 stated that Hillesden Bridge in Norwich was to be faced with Aberdeen granite.10


With the example of Aberdeen’s Union Bridge being available, granite also began to be used for bridge balustrades as with Waterloo Bridge around the year 1817. According to John McLaren 1,200 moulded circular balusters were supplied, made by hand using Rubislaw granite. When the bridge was being demolished one of the balusters was sent back to Aberdeen and placed at Hazelhead Park.11 A further boost to the sett trade came in 1820 when Telford recommended to the Institution of Civil Engineers an improvement in road surfaces. The earlier setts had been fairly roughly finished. Telford now recommended a firmer substructure into which squared, more uniform setts would be laid. This was more expensive but lasted longer.


Evidence of the continuing growth in the export of granite to London can be seen in figures quoted by Harris where he states that, in 1817, 22,167 tons was exported to London; in 1821 it was 34,678 tons; and in 1868, 50,000 tons.12 Harris’s figure for 1817 comes from William Kennedy’s Annals of Aberdeen published in 1818, and Kennedy goes on to add the value of the trade with London, including freight, was £23,275. That figure was actually lower than it had been for a number of years.13


The Beginning of the Granite City


In the new century granite continued to be in demand for harbour work in Aberdeen itself. In 1802 Alexander Carnegie, Advocate in Exchequer Row, advertised for ‘several thousand feet of Aberdeen granite in blocks of sound quality, of an oblong form, from 3½ to 4½ long, by 2½ feet broad, and 14 inches thick. All to be laid down on the Quay at Aberdeen. The whole must be straight-sided, scabbled or rough-picked such as those lying at the Pocra Pier for building the quays at Aberdeen.’14 This type of work, as with the large volume of granite being exported for similar dock and harbour work, required large blocks of relatively undressed granite. This certainly encouraged the development of quarries around the town. However, moves were also afoot that would eventually gain Aberdeen the title of ‘The Granite City’ for the actual number of buildings built in the city from dressed granite.


There is a very real sense in which Aberdeen, during the late eighteenth century and into the early nineteenth century, was moving from being a town with a medieval layout and environmental conditions, to a more modern one, and that the inhabitants of the time were aware of and encouraged this transformation. We have seen in the previous chapter the beginnings of a more planned street layout and 1795 saw an Act of Parliament being passed:




For the better paving, lighting, cleansing, and otherwise improving the streets, lanes, and other public passages of the city of Aberdeen, and the roads and avenues within the royalty thereof; for the better supplying the inhabitants with fresh water, and for the removing and preventing of all obstructions and annoyances within the said city and royalty.15





A major part of this process was the building of Union Street and King Street and this gave a substantial stimulus to the granite industry.


The Act to allow the building of two new streets, giving better access to the town from the north and the west, was given Royal Assent in April 1800. The need for improving access had been realised and discussed by various parties in the town for several years and various schemes produced, the details of which do not concern us here. Along with the levelling of St Katherine’s Hill, centred on where the Adelphi is now, the key construction feature of the project was the building of a series of arches along the line of what was to become Union Street, the most important being Union Bridge. This latter would bridge the valley of the Denburn and allow the town to expand to the west. In retrospect the earlier Marischal Street can almost be seen as a trial run for Union Street, Marischal comprising a planned street, lined with granite buildings, and including a bridge over Virginia Street. With Union Bridge John Rennie, the canal builder, was once again involved, as consulting engineer. He recommended Thomas Fletcher as superintendent of the bridge, having worked with Fletcher on the Lancaster and Aberdeenshire canals. The bridge designer was Glasgow architect David Hamilton, but Fletcher soon found that there were mistakes in Hamilton’s levels, such that new plans were required for the bridge. The Trustees turned to Rennie, who produced three plans, not all of them in granite, and Fletcher also produced a plan. After consulting with Thomas Telford, who happened to be in the city on other business, Fletcher’s plan was chosen. It was to be of granite and it is suggested that Telford supported this as it would act as a show-case for the structural abilities of granite and he ‘had no doubt of its practicability, strength and durability.’ The Aberdeen Journal at the time of the laying of the keystone in 1803 praised the work of Messrs Fletcher, the engineer, and Ross, the bridge builder:




This stupendous arch, both in its design and execution, is an honour to the town, unequalled in any part of the United Kingdom. Built entirely of Aberdeen granite, it furnishes an additional proof of the excellency of this stone, that it is capable of sustaining the enormous pressure of an arch of this extent. It is 130 feet span, and the arch rises only 29 feet from the spring. The breadth of the bridge is 44 feet. The arch stones are from 3½ to 5 feet deep; and the whole weight of materials is not less than 2000 tons.16





The early granite buildings in Marischal Street and elsewhere were all relatively simple in design, a local vernacular style with little in the way of decoration. The first building to have any form of real decoration, worked by hand, was the bank building on the Castlegate at the top of Marischal Street, now part of the High Court. Designed by James Burn from Haddington in 1801, it boasted a cornice, frieze and pillasters in granite. Usually described as the first fully dressed granite ashlar building in Aberdeen, it shows outstanding workmanship given the tools available at the time and the relative simplicity of the buildings that had been built before it. Acurious story is related by Dr Knight and repeated in The Saturday Magazine, March 1844, that the masons couldn’t undertake the dressing of the balusters in granite, and they were done in sandstone painted to look like granite.17 If that was the case then within three years techniques had been developed such that the balustrade of Union Bridge, which Burn also designed, was done in granite. Burn’s bank set the tone for the buildings that would eventually line Union Street, the baton being picked up by both Smith and Simpson.
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Union Bridge under construction c.1804. The figure with the tall hat may well be engineer/designer Thomas Fletcher. It also shows some of the techniques used by the masons at the time. (Aberdeen City Libraries)
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Former Aberdeen Banking Company on Castle Street, Aberdeen, now an annexe to the High Court.





There was certainly an awareness among the leading inhabitants that a new age was dawning in the architectural development of the town. Walter Thom in his History of Aberdeen, published in 1811, commented:




Of the architectural taste of the private buildings in Aberdeen little is to be said in commendation. We seem, however, to be of late emerging from that chaos of distinguishable bad taste which predominated for the last thirty years. It is in the interests of every man to obtain a good design from one who has studied architecture as a science.18





Aberdonian Andrew Robertson, one of the leading miniature painters of the age, joined in the debate from London. In a series of articles published in the Aberdeen Chronicle in 1818 he wrote that the best architects were in the Metropolis (London) and that their design for leading buildings might be sought as well as those from Aberdeen and Edinburgh architects. He particularly wanted to see good public buildings: ‘Public buildings are generally solid in their nature and are intended to last for ages, as the pride and ornament of a city, on which they confer honour or disgrace, according to the good or bad taste displayed in their architecture.’


In a quote that is relevant today he also said, ‘If public buildings are erected on a temporary narrow principle of expediency, posterity might find it necessary to rebuild them.’ Robertson was particularly critical of the siting of the new Court House along Lodge Walk and behind the then Town House:




It seems to be considered a matter of indifference at Aberdeen whether the public edifice now to be erected, its Court House, should become an ornament to the Town, or should be concealed from view. A total indifference to the beauty of our native town or county is not easily conceived, it would be worse than Gothic barbarism.





Robertson argued that ‘a suite of Assembly or Concert Rooms offered another opportunity of embellishing the town; and it is now in contemplation, it is said, to erect an appropriate building, the want of which has long been felt.’19


This referred to the Assembly Rooms which would later be known as the Music Hall, with its huge portico of Dancing Cairns granite. This was, in fact, to be the first public building built on the Union Street, but it wasn’t built until 1820, fully fifteen years after Union Bridge had been opened.


Crimonmogate House, by John Smith, was the first building built west of Union Bridge in 1807 but Union Street did not become the ‘Granite Mile’ overnight. Development was piece meal along the whole length of the street, including the eastern part near the heart of the town. In fact development occurred more quickly west of Union Bridge rather than east. It may have been slightly easier to build away from the heart of the town. In a letter to the Deacon of the Hammermen quoted by G.M. Fraser, Provost Leys said:




for some time past the New Street Trustees and their Committee have had under consideration what plan would be most appropriate to be laid down for the buildings to be erected along both sides of Union Street west of the Denburn, and in doing so it has occurred to them that it will be for the interest of all concerned that the restrictions to be imposed upon the different proprietors and feuars should be as few as possible.





However, he went on to say of such buildings, ‘the whole shall be built of well dressed granite stone.’


Another reason for faster development west of the Denburn was that there it was driven by the commercially minded Incorporated Trades. The latter were keen to develop their land around Diamond Street and Golden Square (The Hammermen), beginning in 1807, though not finished until 1820, Crown Street was also on Hammermen’s land; Bon Accord Street was on the Wrights’ and Coopers’ land; and Bon Accord Square leading to Simpson’s magnificent Bon Accord Crescent, on The Incorporated Tailors’ land.


There is no doubt that the Trustees for the building of Union Street intended, from the outset, that it be lined with granite buildings. As part of the competition for designing the bridges that carried the street there were several grand schemes for a more unified design to the buildings lining the street. One elevation for the buildings along the street, by James Young, has survived. David Hamilton may also have provided one as part of his competition entry. This has led Frank Farmer to suggest that the use of granite on the buildings along the new street was one of the rules of the design competition.20 Although the buildings as built were not in the more uniform style shown on Young’s plan, the stipulation for granite was carried out. Thus when Alexander Brown, in 1819, took out the expensive double feu adjacent to the house at the corner of Shiprow and Union Street built by Archibald Simpson for Baillie Galen, the Trustees stipulated that Brown’s building should be ‘built of granite stone, dressed at least as well as the front wall of the house in Castle Street at present used as the Atheneum’ (the old Atheneum).21 The west end of Brown’s building, facing the Castlegate, and another Simpson design, would become the New Atheneum.


It is well known that the Union Street project virtually bankrupted the city in 1817. However, by this stage feus had started to be taken out very quickly and at a high price. By September 1824 the town was solvent again. This building activity, from the beginning with Union Bridge and the other bridges built as part of the new street, along with the expansion of the city to the west and to the south along King Street, undoubtedly acted as stimulus to the granite quarrying industry.


The interrelation between the quarries, architects and masons is illustrated in the story of one of the finest Aberdeen granite buildings from the first half of the nineteenth century, Archibald Simpson’s masterpiece at the corner of Castle Street and King Street for the North of Scotland Bank, later the Clydesdale Bank. The Aberdeen Constitutional reported in 1840 that:




There are now lying at the North of Scotland Bank Buildings, two blocks of granite 14½ft long, for the doorway; together with a quantity of large blocks from 5 to 5½ft square, for the columns, portico etc. They are from Rubislaw quarries, and are of a very superior description. There are also a number of large stones, from 10 to 12ft long, for the ornamental part of the front, from the Dancing Cairn.22





The Architect, in 1872, described this as an exquisite building, the granite dressed by hand with the patent axing technique:




Entirely in the Corinthian style, has a magnificent portico, supported by four magnificent pillars. Modelled after the Temple at Tivoli. The capitals are most wonderfully cut; in fact from the beautiful dressing and perfect jointing of the stones, the building looks like it is cut out of the rock.23





One of the Corinthian columns at the bank was carved by Francis Christie, then a young mason barely 20 years old. He had been born in 1820 in Banff where his father was working on Telford’s harbour alterations. His father was subsequently the contractor for work at Cluny Castle where Francis also worked, but Francis’s finest work was the chapel, library and staircase at Dunecht House, designed for Lord Lindsay by the famous London architect George Edmond Street. Francis was followed in his trade by a son, also Francis, senior partner of Christie, Greig & Co., and then by grandchildren. Francis died in 1901. His father had been the foreman on Union Bridge, so this one family of masons spanned the whole century.
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Detail of capital on the North of Scotland Bank by Archibald Simpson.
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Former North of Scotland Bank.





Aberdonians grew to love their granite and feel that it was the natural stone for the city. On the subject of the Court House and Tolbooth alterations of 1820, Joseph Robertson wrote in The Book of Bon Accord, published in 1839, ‘it is to be regretted that the basement of the spire was not refaced in the same style and manner; the dull red sandstone of which it is built, ill harmonises with the white and glittering granite below it.’24 Some years later the pioneer photographer George Washington Wilson is said to have been so appalled when he heard that Rubislaw Parish Church was to be built of yellow sandstone diagonally opposite his own house at Queen’s Cross that he offered to pay the difference in cost if granite was used. Alas it was too late and the contracts had been signed. The church was built without a spire in 1874–75 and such was the contrast when the rival Free Church built the granite masterpiece of Queen’s Cross Church across the road, with its soaring spire, that the established church felt they had to add a spire to their own church. It is said that Washington Wilson determined that no further sandstone should appear in the area and bought the feu opposite his own house and had a granite house built there (No. 2 Queen’s Cross).




3


THE STORY OF THE QUARRIES 1790–1914


For virtually all its history as an industry in the north-east, granite was very much subject to peaks and troughs, something that is common in all parts of the construction industry, an industry that tends to mirror the general economy. In the nineteenth and early twentieth century at times of growth, as cities were enlarged, they needed granite for road setts and kerb stones. Likewise there were growth periods when granite blocks were needed to build or rebuild harbours. In Aberdeen itself good times often meant an increase in housebuilding, or building generally, and that, for most purposes, meant granite. Any of these demands could dry up quickly leaving quarries and quarry workers vulnerable to periods of inactivity. For that reason it is quite difficult to piece together the active history of each quarry. For example, you might read a church minister writing at the time of the Second Statistical Account stating that a certain quarry had been closed some years ago. However, that does not mean it was closed for good, since changes in economic and technological circumstances might mean someone else taking it over and reopening it.


We have already seen with John Adam and his quarries at Torry that landowners were concerned to limit the amount of stone quarried. They wanted to maximise their income by agreeing a lease over several years rather than have quarriers take as much stone as possible in as short a time as possible. In 1783 Skene of Rubislaw, for example, placed a restriction on the number of men one of his quarries could employ. A way round the potential for overworking would have been for the estate to receive royalties for the amount of material taken. This does not seem to have happened until much later in the development of quarrying, and it is still happening today with, for example, the Craigenlow Quarry at Dunecht paying royalties to the Dunecht Estates on all the material taken out of the quarry.


The quarries themselves, at least until the middle of the nineteenth century, were not the huge, oval shaped holes in the ground that we can still occasionally see today. Some of our major quarries, such as Rubislaw and Dancing Cairns, were really a series of very small quarries, covering quite a large area, and let and even sub-let to various individual quarriers. A cart road would lead to the quarry face and there was very little machinery used in the quarrying process. From around 1830 onwards this began to change as individuals and companies with more capital began to take over quarries, invest in machinery and new technology, and enlarge the quarries to meet the growing demand. The first to do this was civil engineer John Gibb and he was followed by English companies, notably A. & F. Manuelle and John Mowlem & Co., also known as Mowlem, Burt & Freeman. Already by 1866 Mowlem were operating four of five quarries, the main ones being at Dancing Cairns, Persley and Sclattie, employing 220 men and exporting between 12,000 and 14,000 tons of causeway and kerbstones annually. At the same date Manuelle employed 200 men at Dancing Cairns, Cairncry and Dyce, exporting 18,000 tons of paving stones, mainly to London.1 Finally, in the 1850s, the granite king and supreme innovator John Fyfe took over a small quarry at Kemnay and completely transformed the industry.


In 1859 the British Association visited Aberdeen and Alexander Gibb of Rubislaw Quarry took a group of member to Rubislaw where they saw a blast with 20lb of gunpower dislodging 100 tons of rock. Gibb also gave the Association a lengthy talk on the granite industry. He gave the following list of quarries in operation at that time, with their distance from Aberdeen and the colour of granite they produced. These were in addition to Rubislaw, Dancing Cairns and Peterhead which he described in more detail in his talk:








	

Pitfodels




	

3 miles




	

Blue granite









	

Hilton




	

2 miles




	

Blue granite









	

Peterculter




	

8 miles




	

Blue granite









	

Cove




	

5 miles




	

Blue granite









	

Sclattie




	

5 miles




	

Blue granite









	

Persley




	

4 miles




	

Blue granite









	

Dyce




	

8 miles




	

Blue granite









	

Tyrebagger




	

8 miles




	

Light red granite









	

Clinterty




	

8 miles




	

Light red granite









	

Huntly




	

40 miles




	

Blue granite









	

Boyndlie




	

40 miles




	

Soft grey granite









	

Cairngall




	

40 miles




	

Blue granite









	

Benachie




	

27 miles




	

Red granite









	

Balbithan




	

10 miles




	

Blue granite









	

Kemnay




	

17 miles




	

White granite









	

Tillyfourie




	

23 miles




	

Blue granite









	

Cluny




	

22 miles




	

Blue granite









	

Tullynessle




	

30 miles




	

Light red granite









	

Balmoral




	

50 miles




	

Light red granite









	

Alford




	

28 miles




	

Blue granite













Aberdeen Journal, 21 September 1859


The one listed at Alford is probably what became known as Sylavethie. Some of the others, such as Balbithan, might not be too familiar today and were relatively short-lived, with a number being all but worked out by the time of the First World War.


Rubislaw


As an example of the fact that there were a series of quarries at Rubislaw we find that on 27 April 1808 the Aberdeen Journal carried an advertisement announcing that ‘the granite quarries in the Stonyhill of Rubislaw will be let by public roup, in different lots.’ In 1845 a quarry was advertised as part of the sale of the Angusfield Estate, with good access from both the Old Skene Road and the Rubislaw Turnpike.2 This is probably the small quarry shown on the first OS map, surveyed around 1865, on the Hill of Rubislaw just north of the main Rubislaw Quarries. The sale notice also says that there was also very extensive and valuable rock in a field adjoining the Turnpike Road. This may be the small quarry shown on the OS map just north-west of Rubislaw Quarries, though without an estate map for Angusfield it is difficult to be sure. At Rubislaw itself, by the time of the OS Map, the one major quarry was beginning to take shape, but even in the 1880s Rubislaw still consisted of more than one quarry, with John Gibb and Sons working one, and Macdonald, Field & Co. the other.


At the beginning of the century, James Skene of Rubislaw and his advisors obviously had concerns regarding how the quarries at Rubislaw were being worked. In one letter to Skene from Charles Gordon, his agent or factor, on 9 February 1805, Gordon reports that he had spoken to several people who agree, ‘that your quarries have been exceedingly ill-managed, and that they are in a very bad condition at present, all pitted and potched, rubbish laid down improperly, and no proper plan laid down for carrying off the water.’3


Gordon enlisted the aid of Alexander Gildawie, a mason very much involved in building the turnpike roads and bridges at the time. At this date a John Smith was working two quarry pits, John Webster another, and there was a further pit. Because of the state of the quarries Smith was only willing to offer a rent of £50 or £60. Then, as now, water was a big problem, with Smith’s quarry being below the level of the turnpike road and the water not being carried off. Gildawie made various suggestions to improve the drainage but this was expensive and also involved clearing away a lot of the old rubbish. Presumably Gildawie’s drainage plan was carried out because Smith increased his offer to £80 for a three-year lease. He was not allowed to open any new quarries, or have more than one sub-tenant, prior to that he had three. According to Gordon, ‘they have been in the practice of working here and there thro’ all the hill which spoils the quarry ground.’4


Another problem that Skene seems to have faced is that the Council, despite selling the quarry back to him in 1788, were claiming mineral rights to granite from the quarries. Skene took legal advice which led Charles Gordon to believe that the Council’s claim, based on the original charter feuing the lands of Rubislaw, was limited to material to be used for public works in the town not for selling to London, which is where Gordon says most of the granite was actually going at this time.5


The problems of multi-tenancy continued into the 1820s, when the engineer John Gibb was one of the tenants. In a letter to Skene’s then factors C. & A. Gordon, in 1829, Gibb complained that despite all the trouble he had taken at Rubislaw he had gone out on the hill and found that a Mr Forsyth’s worker was about to fire off a shot half an hour before the allotted time. Having stopped him, Gibb was subsequently abused by Forsyth. Another tenant, Mr Saunders, also fired off early, pretending he had mistaken the time. That same year, Gibb made an offer to take over all the quarries at Rubislaw. At this point the quarries needed to be worked deeper, and machinery was also required to drain off the water, at a considerable expense. Gibb therefore wanted a ten-year lease so that he could re-coup his investment. In this he was successful, and his descendants continued to work the quarry until the end of the nineteenth century.6


John Gibb was a civil engineer, born at Gartcows near Falkirk in 1776. His father was also a civil engineering contractor, having finished the Forth and Clyde Canal, but he died when John was only 12 years of age. John subsequently worked for both John Rennie and Thomas Telford on a variety of canal and dock works, and Telford subsequently recommended him for the post of resident engineer for Aberdeen Harbour. Here he restored Smeaton’s South Pier Head, which had been destroyed in 1807, and then he extended the North Pier and built the breakwater on the south side of the harbour entrance. Gibb was a founder member of the Institution of Civil Engineers in 1820 and he continued to work all over the country on projects such as the repairing of the Crinan Canal for Telford and the building of Glasgow Bridge. He also repaired harbours at Peterhead, Cullen, Banff and Nairn for Telford. These and other projects brought him into the granite industry, and around the year 1820 he supplied granite to Jolliffe and Banks, contractors for building the docks at Sheerness to a plan by John Rennie. To quote Gibb’s obituary in the Institution of Civil Engineers, ‘his scientific knowledge and practical skill were applied to the introduction of a more improved system of quarrying granite.’7 When he died in 1850 Gibb was buried in St Nicholas Kirkyard in Aberdeen.




[image: Illustration]


One of earliest illustrations we have of Rubislaw Quarry taken from The Illustrated London News of 28 March 1857. Although possibly slightly exaggerated, in the foreground it does show stones being split; wagons waiting to be loaded in the distance; and perhaps some kind of crane or pulley. Settmakers skathies are also shown and there was also a more detailed illustration of those. (see Chapter 6). (© Illustrated London News Ltd/Mary Evans)





As well as Rubislaw Gibb also worked quarries at Dyce and Peterhead. He was subsequently joined by his son Alexander in the firm John Gibb & Sons. Alexander had been apprenticed to Telford and he also became Superintendant of the Aberdeen Harbour Works. He married the eldest daughter of City Architect John Smith, friend and colleague of his father.


Dr William Knight, writing in 1832, though published in 1835, says that formerly Rubislaw Quarry was only worked to a depth of 30ft but that at the time he was writing Gibb was already working at a much lower level, aided by having spent £800 over two years on drainage, a huge amount for the time.8 With all the other work that he was involved in Gibb was probably more able than smaller-scale quarriers to finance development of the Rubislaw site.


The estate of Rubislaw was bought from James Skene by Sir Alexander Anderson in 1862, just two years before Skene’s death. Anderson, Aberdeen’s first official Lord Provost, and perhaps its most important and controversial one, subsequently went bankrupt, his estate was sequestered and the Rubislaw Estate was bought by the City of Aberdeen Land Association (CALA). John Gibb & Sons, then under Alexander Easton Gibb, second son of Alexander, were able to buy most of the Hill of Rubislaw in 1870. They retained ownership until 1889 when the sole partner William Gibb, as a result of his own ill health and consequent prolonged absences from Aberdeen, floated the Rubislaw Granite Company. The initial board of directors of the company included the architect Robert Gordon Wilson and the contractor Roderick McKay. The flotation prospectus stated that ‘the objects of the company are to acquire, work and extend the well-known and old established business of quarry owners and quarry masters so long and profitably carried on by Messrs John Gibb and Son at Rubislaw. The deposit of rock is practically inexhaustible.’9 The Rubislaw Quarry site at the time of the flotation was 20 acres, with a further 6¾ acres of vacant land leased from CALA.10


Contractor William Tawse was later added to the board of the Rubislaw Granite Company in 1919, and its last directors in 1967 were John R. Mutch, granite merchant; Joseph E. Farr, granite merchant; Peter Tawse, Associate Director of William Tawse Ltd; Victor M. Ross, Quarry Manager; Andrew Mutch, Granite Merchant; and John K. Hall, Building Contractor.


In the prospectus mentioned above William Gibb had quoted the amount of rock said to be obtainable within eight acres of the centre of the site. This figure came from two surveys that were carried out for Gibb by surveyor James Beattie. They were done because Gibb had used the quarry as security for loans. In 1873 Beattie estimated that there was 3,692,400 tons of granite in the quarry and that this would last 120 years at the then current rate of extraction. That survey showed that the quarry employed sixty quarrymen, three mechanics and eight carters. The latter had fifteen carting horses, fifteen single-horse carts and eleven strong double-shafted wagons. The annual output was 30,000 tons.11


The survey was repeated in 1886 with the following list of plant and equipment at the quarry at that time:


Four cottages on Rubislaw Road


A horseman’s cottage


Quarry office


A blacksmith’s shop with three hearths, powder magazine, portable tool house


A wooden boiler house and wooden coal house


Causewaymens’ shelter


Two ten ton steam cranes, two steam quarry engines, a 3-ton steam crane, a marine boiler and two vertical boilers


A large wrought-iron water tank, a smaller iron water tank and cast-iron water tank


A Parker & Weston steam pump, a Tengye pump and a large donkey pump


Eight tips wagons 12


The following year, the Association for Improving the Condition of the Poor organised work for the unemployed clearing tirr at Rubislaw Quarries. One enterprising worker, Hugh Barron, put a proposal to William Gibb to do the work at a fixed rate with the company providing all the plant except the shovels. He must have been successful because an invoice survives paying Barron, including a deduction for sharpening picks.13
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